FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
05/24/2024 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON

No. 85912-9-I Supreme Court of the State of Washington

Case #: 1031041

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

V.

ADAM EZRA PARIS, Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

Judges Schaller and Williams

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM EZRA PARIS Appellant, Pro se' Doc# 435137

Airway Heights Corrections Center P.O. Box 2049 Airway Heights, WA 99001

A. IDENTITY OF PETITONER

Adam Ezra Paris asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

"Paris argues the trial Court erred by dismissing a Juror for bias at the close of the evidence. We disagree." Decision at 14.

"Paris argues he is entitled to a new trial because the court failed to establish that the Juror was actually biased. We need not reach that issue because Paris fails to show PreJudice." Decision at 15.

The trial court did not excuse Juror 11 based on concern about the Juror's view of the merits of the evidence presented. And Paris makes no argument that any error substantially swayed his verdict. Indeed, we presume an alternate Juror 1s unbiased. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn. 2d at 822. As a result, the release of Juror 11 had no substantial influence on the outcome of the trial, and any error was harmless." Decision at 16.

A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through 20.

Appellant's Petition For Review 1 of 12

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals ruled that they need not reach the Issue of whether the trial court improperly dismissed an impaneled Juror because "Paris failed to show prejudice." Was the Court of Appeal's decision in Conflict with this courts decision in Sassen Van Elsloo where such trial error is of constitutional magnitude, prejudice is presumed, and the State, not Paris, begrs the burden of proving harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt? (RAP 13.4 (b)(1))

Does there exist a reasonable possibility of preJudice where the trial Court made "assumptions" about Juror 11's views of the facts of the case, and furthermore does dismissal based on those assumptions "violate the Sixth Amendment right to a unanimous Verdict by an impartial Jury?" (RAP 13.4(b)(3)).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The bailiff reported to the trial court that he had observed Juror II shake hands with a spectator from the court room. The trial court then reported to both parties accordingly, and requested their thoughts on any

points of action. RP 770. Juror 11 was questioned in regards to his association with the Spectator. Juror 11 Stated the spectator is a friend through ministry, and that his association with the spectator would not interfere with his ability to be fair and impartial. RP 772-78. With no objection by any party, Juror 11 remained on the panel, and continued to hear testimony. RP 779.

After the defendant testified without wearing a face mask it was reported to the court that Juror II recognized the defendant. The court then reported to both parties and asked of any specific requests of the court. RP 1264. The State motioned to excuse Juror II for Cause because of the connection between the defendant, the Spectator, and Juror II. The State further argued whether or not Juror II can remain impartial is not Something that is needed to be inquired. RP 1264-66. Defense argued there is not a sufficient record to excuse Juror II for cause. RP 1266-67. Juror II was then questioned about his association with the defendant. He explained he had played music with the defendant at Church events, and that conversations would be limited to "Hi" or "How are you?" RP 1268-70.

The State motioned to excuse Juror II for cause claiming the state has a right to a fair trial, and that there has been way too many issues with Juror No. 11,

that has connections to the defendant and also his circle—his support group that have been in court this whole entire time. RP 1271-72. Over defense objection, the trial Court granted the States motion to dismiss Juror II for cause without asking Juror II the follow-up question that, despite this information, does the Juror think he can be fair and impartial. The trial Judge explained that the handshake with the spectator, that the circumstantial evidence Suggested was there for the defendant, and that Juror II played music with the defendant about 20 times over the last year can lead to an inference of bias and preJudice and not being able to be impartial. RP 1272-73.

E. ARGUMENT

Paris humbly argues that there is a compelling need for this court to grant review, where the Court of Appeals ruled they "need not reach the issue of whether the trial court improperly dismissed an impaneled Juror" because "Paris failed to Show preJudice." (WASHINGTON APPELLATE PRACTICE DESKBOOK, 4TH Ed. § 18.2(5), "How to Present Your Petition For Review.") Here, Paris argues that the Court of Appeals is in conflict with this court's decision in State v. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn. 2d 798, 425 P. 3d 807 (2018), because "Such trial error is of constitutional magnitude, that preJudice is presumed whereby the State,

Appellant's Petition For Review 4 of 12

not Paris, bears the burden of proving harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt." Because the Court of Appeals had forgone the State's burden, this Court should be convinced that a "significant point of law must be decided or clarified." (WASHINGTON APPELLATE PRACTICE DESHBOOK, Supra.)

Paris further argues there also exists a "reasonable possibility" of prejudice because the trial Court made "assumptions" about Juror 11's views of the facts of the case, and furthermore Juror 11's dismissal, that was based on those assumptions, "Violate the Sixth Amendment right to a unanimous verdict by an impartial Jury?"

The issue is, whether the Court of Appeal's decision is in Conflict with this courts decision in State v. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn. 2d 798, 425 P. 3d 807(2018), (RAP 13.4 (b)(1)), and whether there exists "a reasonable possibility" of preJudice where the trial court made "assumptions" about Juror 11's Views of the facts of this case. (RAP 13.4(b) (3)).

We review a trial Court's decision to discharge a vuror for an abuse of discretion. State v. Depaz, 165 Wn. 2d 842, 858, 204 P. 3d 217 (2009). The trial Court "has the advantage of observing a Juror's demeanor" and is "in the best position to determine a Juror's ability to be fair and impartial." State v. Teninty, 17 Wn. App. 2d 957, 964, 489 P. 3d 679 (2021). "The range of discretionary

Appellant's Petition For Review 5 of 12

Choices is a question of law and the Judge abuses his or her discretion if the discretionary decision is contrary to law." State v. Neal, 144 Wn. 2d 600, 609, 30 P. 3d 1255 (2001).

All Criminal defendants are constitutionally entitled to a unanimous Jury verdict, Washington Constitution Article 1, Section 21; State v. Petrich, 101 Wn. 2d 566, 569, 683 P.2d 173 (1984), reached by an impartial Jury, United States Constitution Amendment VI; Washington Constitution Article 1, Section 22. This right exists throughout the entire trial process and is safeguarded in part by statutes and rules that require the trial Judge to dismiss biased Jurors. PCW 4.44.170; RCW 2.36.110; CrR 6.5. The operation of these statutes and rules depends on whether the Juror is a potential, impaneled, or deliberating Juror. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn. 2d 798 at 807.

Dismissal of an impaneled Juror for bias requires the same findings as dismissal of a potential Juror for bias - proof that the Juror has formed a biased opinion and, as a result, Cannot try the case impartially. Id at 808. PreJudice exists when the erroneous dismissal of an impaneled Juror stems from concern over the Juror's Views of the merits of the evidence presented. Id at 815. The governing statute does not contemplate the role, import, or significance of a particular party as a basis

for dismissal. RCW 2.36.110. A Juror's acquaintance with a party, by itself, 15 not grounds for a challenge for cause. State V. Tingdale, 117 Wn. 2d 595, 601, 817 P. 2d (1991). Without the requisite showing of the Juror's bias and inability to be fair, the importance of a party is irrelevant.

Therefore, a defendant's constitutional right to a unanimous verdict is violated and a new trial is warranted if there exists a "reasonable possibility" that the trial Judge dismissed an impaneled Juror because of that Juror's "View of the sufficiency of the evidence." State v. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn. 2d 798, 822, 425 P. 3d 807 (2018); (citing State v. Elmore, 155 Wn. 2d 758, 761, 123 P. 3d 72 (2005)).

One circumstance of "reasonable possibility" is where a trial Court dismissed a seated Juror based on the prosecutor's or trial Court's "unsupported assumption" of bias. Id at 841 (McCloud, J., concurring. "following the reasoning of Elmore, dismissal of seated Jurors due to assumptions about how they view the facts is also improper.")

If a "trial error is of constitutional magnitude, preJudice is presumed and the State bears the burden of proving It was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Coristine, 177 Wn. 2d 370, 380, 300 P. 3d 400 (2013). (citing Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967);

Appellant's Petition For Review 7 of 12

State v. irby, 170 Wn. 2d 874, 886, 246 P. 3d 796 (2011). To snow that an erroneous dismissal of an impaneled Juror was harmless, the State must present evidence that allows the appellate court "to say, with fair assurance, after pondering all that happened without stripping the erroneous action from the whole, that the dudgment was not substantially swayed by the error." Hinton, 979 A. 2d at 691 (quoting Kotteakos v. United States, 328 U.S. 750, 765, 66 S.Ct. 1239, 90 L. Ed. 1557 (1946)). If the appellate court is in "virtual equipoise" as to the harmlessness of the error, the error should be treated as if it were not harmless. Id.

Here in this case, the Appellate (ourt's decision is in Conflict with this courts decision in State v. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn. 2d 798, 425 P. 3d 807 (2018). The trial (ourt abused its discretion by improperly dismissing Juror II, and there is a reasonable possibility that the improper dismissal was based on an unsupported assumption that Juror II would view the facts more favorably toward the defense. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn. 2d at 841. Therefore, preJudice is presumed, and the State bears the burden of proving it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn. 2d at 822. The Court of Appeals failed to abdicate this burden, and thus, this court should accept review in faith of promoting its role as

the "highest policy making Judicial body of the state."
(WASHINGTON APPELLATE PRACTICE DESKBOOK, Supra) Moreover, the merits Will be reached in this case. Id.

The record contains no indication that Juror II formed an opinion about Paris or that such opinion would prevent him from trying the case impartially. The record indicates that Juror II was indifferent to Paris, not biased toward him. Juror II made it clear that his contact with Paris was limited to Church events, and that conversations were limited to "hi" or "how are you?". Juror II also stated on the record, "it is with my most sincere heart that I will fulfill my obligation in the most pure way possible." RP 774. This shows Juror II's resolve to remain impartial.

Neither the State nor the Trial Judge inquired whether Juror II could put aside any prior opinions and Judge the case fairly, and the record contains no facts supporting such a finding. The States motion to dismiss Juror II for cause failed to articulate any evidence in the record that Juror II was unfit to serve. Rather, the state argued that whether or not Juror II can remain impartial is not something that is needed to be inquired, and that the State would be in a different position if Juror II had recognized any of the other defense witnesses. The State further argued that the Juror's connection to the defendant, and his circle, would affect the States right to a fair trial.

Appellant's Petition For Review 9 of 12

The trial Judge granted the States motion to dismiss Juror II not because he was biased, but because he shook the hand of a spectator, that the circumstantial evidence suggested was there for the defendant, and because he played music with the defendant at church events. The trial Judge stated this "close connection" can lead to an inference of bias and prejudice and not being able to be impartial. Like the State, the trial Judge also fails to articulate any proof of actual bias as defined in RCW 4.44.190. Instead, the trial Judge applies this assumption of bias, and forgoes the necessary follow-up question, "that despite this information does the Juror think that he can be fair and impartial." BP 1272.

There is at the least a very real possibility that the Sudge dismissed Juror II because of his evaluation of the testimony and his views on the Merits of the Case. Sassen VanElsloo, 191 Wn. ad at 825. There is no indication that Juror II was biased for or against the defendant, the only possible reason for dismissal was for his Views on the Merits of the Case.

Therefore, the trial Court abused its discretion by dismissing Juror II without proof of actual bias. Applying the "reasonable possibility" standard, the defendants Constitutional right to a unanimous verdict was violated

and a new trial is warranted because there exists a reasonable possibility that the trial Judge dismissed Juror II because of his views of the sufficiency of the evidence. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn. ad at 872. However, the Court of Appeals ruled "Paris failed to Show prejudice," but, according to Sassen Van Elsloo, the burden is not on Paris to show prejudice. Paris needs only to show "error of constitutional magnitude" (whereby prejudice is "Presumed"), and then, the burden is imputed upon the State to establish harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt. Therefore, placing the decision made by the Court of Appeals in conflict with this Courts decision in Sassen van Elsloo, and raising a significant question of law. RAP 13.4 (b)(1),(3). This Court should accept review accordingly. (WASHINGTON APPENIATE PRACTICE DESKBOOK, Supra.)

F. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with this courts decision in Sassen Van Elsloo, and also raises a significant, Constitutional, question of law. This court should grant review, Paris's convictions be reversed, and a new trial granted.

Appellant's Petition for Review 11 of 12