FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/21/2024 10:54 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 103104-1 COA No. 57713-5-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

ADAM E. PARIS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Mary Sue Wilson Cause No. 19-1-00469-34

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph J.A. Jackson Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO REVIEW

1. Whether this Court should accept review of a claimed erroneous removal of a juror under RAP 13.4(b) where the decision of the Court of Appeals was consistent with the prior precedent of this Court.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PMM (11/14/2004) and her sister KGR (08/22/2007) were sexually and physically abused by the Appellant, Adam Paris, while he was living in the same home as the sisters as their stepfather. RP 629, 646, 666-67, 705, 720, 730, 737. A jury found Paris guilty of counts two and three, rape of a child in the first degree and counts four and five child molestation in the first degree, for the sexual abuses he committed against PMM and KGR. CP 252-58. Paris was acquitted on counts one and six. CP 252, 258. Paris was sentenced to a minimum of 292 months to life for counts two and three and was sentenced to a minimum of 182 months to life for counts four and five. CP 340.

Paris appealed his convictions. Division II of the Court of Appeals affirmed his convictions. <u>Unpublished Opinion</u>, No. 57713-5-II, at 1. In a Statement of Additional Grounds, Paris argued that the trial court erroneously struck an empaneled juror for cause. The Court of Appeals found, "The trial court did not excuse Juror 11 based on concern about the juror's view of the merits of the evidence presented." <u>Id</u>. at 16. The Court of Appeals noted that alternate jurors are presumed unbiased, and found that "as a result, the release of Juror 11 had no substantial influence on the outcome of the trial and any error was harmless." Id.

Paris seeks review of that issue. Additional facts were included in the argument section before.¹

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

¹ For a more complete recitation of the facts, please refer to the Statement of the Case in the Brief of Respondent, No. 57713-5-II.

 The decision of the Court of Appeals was correct and consistent with precedent set forth by this Court. There is no basis for which review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b).

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court only:

- "(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

RAP 13.4(b). Paris argues that the decision of the Court of Appeals is contrary to this Court's decision in <u>State v. Sassen Van Elsloo</u>, 191 Wn.2d 798, 425 P.3d 807 (2018). However, the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with the opinion in <u>Sassen Van Elsloo</u>.

A reviewing court reviews a trial court's decision to discharge a juror for abuse of discretion. State v. Depaz, 165 Wn.2d 842, 858, 204 P.3d 217 (2009). The trial court "has the advantage of observing a juror's demeanor" and is "in the best position to determine a juror's ability to be fair and impartial." State v. Teninty, 17 Wn.App.2d 957, 964, 489 P.3d 670 (2021). RCW 2.36.110 imposes a duty on the trial judge to "excuse from further service any juror, who in the opinion of the judge, has manifested unfitness as a juror by reason of bias ..."

Defendant's do not have a right to any particular juror, and even if erroneous, the dismissal of a potential juror does not cause a biased juror to be impaneled. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d at 817. "Erroneous dismissal of a potential juror does not automatically violate a defendant's constitutional right to an impartial jury, and for this reason, a defendant must prove that the improper dismissal of a potential juror was prejudicial to a new trial."

<u>Id</u>. The erroneous dismissal of an impaneled juror does not violate constitutional rights, as long as the dismissal does not stem from views on the case. <u>Id</u>. at 822. A new trial is warranted if there exists a reasonable possibility that the trial judge dismissed an impaneled juror because of that juror's "views of the sufficiency of the evidence." <u>Id</u>. at 822-823.

Here, the prosecutor asked to dismiss Juror 11 after the parties became aware that Juror 11 had spent time with Paris "approximately 20 times in the last year and has spent more time with him within the last two years." RP 1271. The prosecutor also noted that Juror 11 had connections with Paris and to Paris' "circle" or "support group" that had been in the courtroom. RP 1271-1272. The trial court ruled,

We do have a circumstance where the same juror shook the hand of a spectator that the circumstantial evidence suggests the spectator is here for the defendant and has just told the court on the record that he has played music together with the defendant for about 20 times over the last year. That close connection can lead to an inference of bias and prejudice and not being able to be impartial.

RP 1273. On that record, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by dismissing Juror 11. Perhaps more importantly, it was abundantly clear from the record that the trial court did not dismiss Juror 11 based on their views of the sufficiency of the evidence. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled "the release of juror 11 had no substantial influence on the outcome of the trial and any error was harmless." <u>Unpublished Opinion</u>, at 16. The decision was consistent with the holding of <u>Sassen Van Elsloo</u>. Review is not warranted.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons stated herein, the State respectfully request that this Court deny the petition for review. There is no basis under RAP 13.4(b) upon which review is warranted.

I certify that this document contains 993 words, not including those portions exempted from the word count, as counted by word processing software, in compliance with RAP 18.17.

Respectfully submitted this 21st day of June 2024.

Joseph J.A. Jackson, WSBA# 37306

Attorney for Respondent